UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE INC Form 10-Q April 29, 2016

U. S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q (Mark One)

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
 OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2016

" TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

·

Commission File Number 1-31923

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 86-0226984

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (IRS Employer Identification No.)

16220 North Scottsdale Road, Suite 100

Scottsdale, Arizona 85254

(Address of principal executive offices)

(623) 445-9500

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes þ No "Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes þ No "

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer " Accelerated filer b Non-accelerated filer " Smaller reporting company " Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes " No b

At April 22, 2016, there were 24,344,515 shares outstanding of the registrant's common stock.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. INDEX TO FORM 10-Q FOR THE QUARTER ENDED MARCH 31, 2016

Special N	Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements	Page Numberii
PART I.	FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Financial Statements (unaudited)	
	Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2016 and September 30, 2015 (unaudited)	1
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 (unaudited)	2
	Condensed Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity for the six months ended March 31, 2016 (unaudited)	<u>3</u>
	Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the six months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 (unaudited)	<u>4</u>
	Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)	<u>6</u>
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	<u>21</u>
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	<u>34</u>
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	<u>34</u>
PART II	OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	<u>35</u>
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	<u>36</u>
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	<u>36</u>
Item 6.	<u>Exhibits</u>	<u>36</u>
	<u>SIGNATURES</u>	<u>37</u>

Table of Contents

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), and Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (Securities Act), which include information relating to future events, future financial performance, strategies, expectations, competitive environment, regulation and availability of resources. From time to time, we also provide forward-looking statements in other materials we release to the public as well as verbal forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements regarding: proposed new programs; scheduled openings of new campuses and campus expansions; expectations that regulatory developments or agency interpretations of such regulatory developments or other matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity and anticipated timing for ongoing regulatory initiatives; statements concerning projections, predictions, expectations, estimates or forecasts as to our business, financial and operational results and future economic performance; and statements of management's goals and objectives and other similar expressions. Such statements give our current expectations or forecasts of future events; they do not relate strictly to historical or current facts. Words such as "may," "will," "should," "could," "would," "predicts," "potential," "continue," "expe "anticipates," "future," "intends," "plans," "believes," "estimates," and similar expressions, as well as statements in future tens identify forward-looking statements. However, not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.

We cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized, although we believe we have been prudent in our plans and assumptions. Achievement of future results is subject to risks, uncertainties and potentially inaccurate assumptions. Many events beyond our control may determine whether results we anticipate will be achieved. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could differ materially from past results and those anticipated, estimated or projected. You should bear this in mind as you consider forward-looking statements.

Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. You are advised, however, to consult any further disclosures we make on related subjects in our Form 10-Q, 8-K and 10-K reports to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). The Annual Report on Form 10-K that we filed with the SEC on December 2, 2015 listed various important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from expected and historical results. We note these factors for investors within the meaning of Section 21E of the Exchange Act and Section 27A of the Securities Act. Readers can find them under the heading "Risk Factors" in the Form 10-K and in this Form 10-Q, and investors should refer to them. You should understand that it is not possible to predict or identify all such factors. Consequently, you should not consider any such list to be a complete set of all potential risks or uncertainties. Our filings with the SEC may be accessed at the SEC's web site at www.sec.gov.

ii

Table of Contents

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION Item 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED)

		September
Accepta	2016	30, 2015
Assets	(In thousa	nas)
Current assets:	\$40,433	¢20.429
Cash and cash equivalents Restricted cash	2,415	\$29,438 5,824
	10,102	28,086
Investments, current portion	•	
Receivables, net Deferred tax assets, net	16,100	22,409
	10 675	4,539
Prepaid expenses and other current assets Total current assets	18,675	17,761
	87,725 47	108,057
Investments, less current portion		1,719
Property and equipment, net	119,746	124,144
Goodwill Deferred to a coasts and	9,005	8,222
Deferred tax assets, net		20,248
Other assets	13,339	11,912
Total assets	\$229,862	\$274,302
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity		
Current liabilities:	0.24.72 6	Φ.42. C20
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	\$34,726	\$42,620
Dividends payable		485
Deferred revenue	39,430	44,693
Accrued tool sets	3,372	3,624
Financing obligation, current	823	737
Income tax payable		1,187
Other current liabilities	3,008	3,148
Total current liabilities	81,359	96,494
Deferred tax liabilities, net	3,141	
Deferred rent liability	9,912	10,822
Financing obligation	43,613	44,053
Other liabilities	10,738	9,458
Total liabilities	148,763	160,827
Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)		
Shareholders' equity:		
Common stock, \$0.0001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 31,209,412 shares issued		
and 24,344,515 shares outstanding as of March 31, 2016 and 31,098,193 shares issued and	3	3
24,233,296 shares outstanding as of September 30, 2015		
Preferred stock, \$0.0001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized; 0 shares issued and		
outstanding		
Paid-in capital	180,481	178,202
Treasury stock, at cost, 6,864,897 shares as of March 31, 2016 and September 30, 2015		(97,388)
Retained earnings (deficit)		32,638
Accumulated other comprehensive income	19	20
Total shareholders' equity	81,099	113,475
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity	\$229,862	\$274,302

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)

	Three Mor Ended Ma	rch 31,	Six Months Ended March 31,		
	2016	2015	2016	2015	
	•	•	t per share a		
Revenues	\$88,192	\$91,235	\$177,965	\$186,915	
Operating expenses:					
Educational services and facilities	49,770	48,143	99,422	95,973	
Selling, general and administrative	44,192	40,690	86,506	82,940	
Total operating expenses	93,962	88,833	185,928	178,913	
Income (loss) from operations	(5,770)	2,402	(7,963)	8,002	
Other (expense) income:					
Interest expense, net		(481)	(1,614)	(980)	
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates	104	136	239	254	
Other income	124	133	378	245	
Total other (expense) income, net	(569)	(212)	(997)	(481)	
Income (loss) before income taxes	(6,339)	2,190	(8,960)	7,521	
Income tax expense	25,663	1,635	24,722	3,872	
Net income (loss)	\$(32,002)	\$555	\$(33,682)	\$3,649	
Other comprehensive income (loss) (net of tax):					
Equity interest in investee's unrealized gains (losses) on hedging derivatives, net of taxes ⁽¹⁾	\$ —	\$6	\$(1)	\$17	
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$(32,002)	\$561	\$(33,683)	\$3,666	
Earnings per share:					
Net income (loss) per share - basic	\$(1.32)	\$0.02	\$(1.39)	\$0.15	
Net income (loss) per share - diluted	\$(1.32)	\$0.02	\$(1.39)	\$0.15	
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:					
Basic	24,270	24,463	24,252	24,647	
Diluted	24,270	24,551	24,252	24,741	
Cash dividends declared per common share	\$0.02	\$0.10	\$0.04	\$0.20	
(1)The tax effect during the three months and six months ended March 31	, 2016 and 2	2015 was r	ot significa	nt.	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

Table of Contents

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (UNAUDITED)

	Commo	on		Tracci	ury Stock		Accumu	ılate	d	
	Stock		Paid-in	Heas	ury Stock	Retained	Other		Total	
	Shares	Amou	Capital	Share	sAmount	Earnings (Deficit)	Compre Income	hen	si §h areholo Equity	lers'
	(In thou	ısands)					(Loss)			
Balance as of September 30, 2015	31,098	\$ 3	\$178,202	6,865	\$(97,388)	\$32,638	\$ 20		\$113,475	
Net loss						(33,682)			(33,682)
Issuance of common stock under employee plans	113	_	_	_	_	_	_		_	
Shares withheld for payroll taxes	(2) —	(7)	· —					(7)
Stock-based compensation			2,286						2,286	
Cash dividends declared					_	(972)			(972)
Equity interest in investee's										
unrealized losses on hedging							(1)	(1)
derivatives, net of tax										
Balance as of March 31, 2016	31,209	\$ 3	\$180,481	6,865	\$(97,388)	\$(2,016)	\$ 19		\$81,099	

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

	Six Mon March 3		s Ended	
	2016	,	2015	
	(In thous	sar		
Cash flows from operating activities:	`		,	
Net income (loss)	\$(33,682	2)	\$3,649	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:	, ()		, - ,	
Depreciation and amortization	7,682		8,859	
Amortization of assets subject to financing obligation	1,341		931	
Amortization of held-to-maturity investments	336		931	
Bad debt expense	752		307	
Stock-based compensation	2,286		2,198	
Deferred income taxes	27,928		2,214	
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates	(239		(254)
Training equipment credits earned, net	(348	-	(697)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment	100		(41)
Changes in assets and liabilities:			`	_
Restricted cash: Title IV credit balances	34		242	
Receivables	9,000		2,616	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	(957)	(214)
Other assets	(68)	(640)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	(6,135)	(742)
Deferred revenue	(5,263)	(5,685)
Income tax payable/receivable	(4,648)	(5,005)
Accrued tool sets and other current liabilities	(184)	(150)
Deferred rent liability	(910)	58	
Other liabilities	490		158	
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities	(2,485)	8,735	
Cash flows from investing activities:				
Purchase of property and equipment	(4,905)	(16,215)
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment	_		3	
Purchase of investments			(24,425)
Proceeds received upon maturity of investments	19,320		22,407	
Acquisitions	(1,500)	—	
Investment in unconsolidated affiliates	(1,000)		
Capitalized costs for intangible assets	(250)	—	
Return of capital contribution from unconsolidated affiliate	240		228	
Restricted cash: proprietary loan program	3,393		(1,950)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities	15,298		(19,952)
Cash flows from financing activities:				
Payment of cash dividend	(1,457)	(4,896)
Payment of financing obligation	(354)	(350)
Payment of payroll taxes on stock-based compensation through shares withheld	(7)	(36)
Purchase of treasury stock			(6,119	-
Net cash used in financing activities	(1,818)	(11,401	
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents	10,995		(22,618)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period	29,438		38,985	

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

\$40,433 \$16,367

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED), continued

Six Months Ended March 31, 2016 2015 (In thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Taxes paid \$1,443 \$6,662 Interest paid \$1,725 \$1,121 Training equipment obtained in exchange for services \$1,553 \$220 Depreciation of training equipment obtained in exchange for services \$602 \$600 Change in accrued capital expenditures during the period \$(1,509) \$(890) Construction period construction liability - construction in progress \$---\$6,172 Construction period financing obligation - building \$---\$(4,825)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

1. Nature of the Business

We are the leading provider of postsecondary education for students seeking careers as professional automotive, diesel, collision repair, motorcycle and marine technicians as measured by total average undergraduate full-time student enrollment and graduates. We offer undergraduate degree or diploma programs at 12 campuses across the United States under the banner of several well-known brands, including Universal Technical Institute, Motorcycle Mechanics Institute and Marine Mechanics Institute and NASCAR Technical Institute. We also offer manufacturer specific advanced training (MSAT) programs, including student-paid electives, at our campuses and manufacturer or dealer sponsored training at certain campuses and dedicated training centers.

We work closely with leading original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) in the automotive, diesel, motorcycle and marine industries to understand their needs for qualified service professionals. Revenues generated from our schools consist primarily of tuition and fees paid by students. To pay for a substantial portion of their tuition, the majority of students rely on funds received from federal financial aid programs under Title IV Programs of the Higher Education Act of 1965, as amended, as well as from various veterans benefits programs. For further discussion, see Note 2 "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - Concentration of Risk" and Note 18 "Government Regulation and Financial Aid" included in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on December 2, 2015.

2. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) for interim financial information and the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, our condensed consolidated financial statements do not include all the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all normal and recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair statement of the results for the interim periods have been included. Operating results for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending September 30, 2016. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 2, 2015.

The unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Universal Technical Institute, Inc. and our wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

3. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued guidance intended to simplify several areas of accounting for share-based compensation arrangements, including the income tax impact, classification on the statement of cash flows and forfeitures. The guidance is effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those periods, beginning after December 15, 2016, with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact that the update will have on our results of operations, financial condition and financial statement disclosures.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

In February 2016, the FASB issued guidance requiring lessees to recognize a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the balance sheet for substantially all leases, with the exception of short-term leases. Leases will be classified as either financing or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the statement of income. The guidance is effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those periods, beginning after December 15, 2018 with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the impact that the update will have on our results of operations, financial condition and financial statement disclosures.

In January 2016, the FASB issued guidance related to the classification and measurement of financial instruments. The guidance primarily impacts the accounting for equity investments other than those accounted for using the equity method of accounting, financial liabilities under the fair value option and the presentation and disclosure requirements for financial instruments. Additionally, the FASB clarified guidance related to the valuation allowance assessment when recognizing deferred tax assets resulting from unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securities. The accounting for other financial instruments, such as loans, investments in debt securities and financial liabilities is largely unchanged. The guidance is effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those periods, beginning after December 15, 2017 with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating the adoption methods and the impact that the update will have on our results of operations, financial condition and financial statement disclosures.

In November 2015, the FASB issued guidance which simplifies the balance sheet classification of deferred taxes. The guidance requires that all deferred tax assets and liabilities, along with any related valuation allowance, be classified as noncurrent on the balance sheet. This guidance is effective for public business entities for annual periods, and for interim periods within those periods, beginning after December 15, 2016 with early adoption permitted. While the guidance will have an impact on our balance sheet classification, we do not anticipate it will have a material impact on our results of operations, financial condition or the financial statement disclosures.

In April 2015, the FASB issued guidance related to customers accounting for fees paid in a cloud computing arrangement. The guidance provides clarification on whether a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license. If an arrangement includes a software license, then the software license element is accounted for consistent with the acquisition of other such licenses. If the arrangement does not include a software license, the arrangement is accounted for as a service contract. Entities have the option of adopting the guidance retrospectively or prospectively. The guidance is effective for annual periods, including interim periods within those periods, beginning after December 15, 2015 with early adoption permitted. We are currently evaluating both the adoption method and the impact that the update will have on our results of operations, financial condition and the financial statement disclosures.

In February 2015, the FASB issued guidance which changes the analysis that a reporting entity must perform to determine whether it should consolidate certain types of legal entities. Specifically, the amendments (1) modify the evaluation of whether limited partnerships with similar legal entities are variable interest entities (VIEs) or voting interest entities, (2) eliminate the presumption that a general partner should consolidate a limited partnership, (3) affect the consolidation analysis of reporting entities that are involved with VIEs, particularly those that have fee arrangements and related party relationships and (4) provide a scope exception from consolidation guidance for

reporting entities with interests in legal entities that are required to comply with or operate in accordance with requirements that are similar to those in Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 for registered money market funds. Entities have the option of using a full or modified retrospective approach to adopt the guidance. This guidance is effective for public business entities for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015 with early adoption permitted. We do not anticipate it will have a material impact on our results of operations, financial condition or the financial statement disclosures.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

In May 2014, the FASB issued guidance which outlines a single comprehensive revenue model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. The guidance supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance, and requires a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. Entities have the option of using either a full retrospective or modified approach to adopt the guidance. In June 2015, the FASB deferred the effective date of the guidance by one year. This guidance is now effective for annual and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and early adoption is now permitted for annual and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016. In March and April 2016, the FASB issued further guidance that clarifies certain implementation issues related to revenue recognition, including principal versus agent considerations, the identification of performance obligations and licensing. These additional updates have the same effective date as the new revenue guidance. We are currently evaluating the adoption methods and the impact that the update will have on our results of operations, financial condition and financial statement disclosures.

4. Investments

We invest in pre-funded municipal bonds, which are generally secured by escrowed-to-maturity U.S. Treasury notes. Municipal bonds represent debt obligations issued by states, cities, counties and other governmental entities, which earn interest that is exempt from federal income taxes. Additionally, we invest in certificates of deposit issued by financial institutions and corporate bonds from large cap industrial and selected financial companies with a minimum credit rating of A. We have the ability and intention to hold our investments until maturity and therefore classify these investments as held-to-maturity and report them at amortized cost.

Amortized cost and fair value for investments classified as held-to-maturity at March 31, 2016 were as follows:

				Estimated
	Amortized	Gross 1	Unrealized	Fair Market
	Cost	Gains	Losses	Value
Due in less than 1 year:				
Municipal bonds	\$ 4,851	\$ 2	\$ —	\$ 4,853
Corporate bonds	3,960	1	(1)	3,960
Certificates of deposit	1,291	_		1,291
Due in 1 - 2 years:				
Municipal bonds	47	_		47
	\$ 10,149	\$ 3	\$ (1)	\$ 10,151

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

Amortized cost and fair value for investments classified as held-to-maturity at September 30, 2015 were as follows:

				Estimated
	Amortized	Gross I	Inrealized	Fair Market
	Cost	Gains	Losses	Value
Due in less than 1 year:				
Municipal bonds	\$ 13,117	\$ 14	\$ (1)	\$ 13,130
Corporate bonds	11,402	1	(10)	11,393
Certificates of deposit	3,567			3,567
Due in 1 - 2 years:				
Municipal bonds	771	2		773
Corporate bonds	201			201
Certificates of deposit	747			747
_	\$ 29,805	\$ 17	\$ (11)	\$ 29,811

Investments are exposed to various risks, including interest rate, market and credit risk, and as a result, it is possible that changes in the values of these investments may occur and that such changes could affect the amounts reported in the condensed consolidated balance sheets and condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

5. Fair Value Measurements

The accounting framework for determining fair value includes a hierarchy for ranking the quality and reliability of the information used to measure fair value, which enables the reader of the financial statements to assess the inputs used to develop those measurements. The fair value hierarchy consists of three tiers: Level 1, defined as quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2, defined as inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data. Any transfers of investments between levels occurs at the end of the reporting period.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

Assets measured or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis consisted of the following:

		Fair Value Measurements Using Quoted Prices			
	March 31, 2016	in Active Markets for Identical (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs Assets (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable	
Money market funds	\$32,799	\$32,799	\$ —	\$ —	
Corporate bonds	3,960	3,960	_		
Municipal bonds	4,900		4,900		
Commercial paper	2,501	_	2,501	_	
Certificates of deposit	1,291		1,291		
Total assets at fair value on a recurring basis	\$45,451	\$36,759	\$ 8,692	\$ —	
	30, 2015	Quoted Prices in Active er Marke for Identic Assets (Level 1)	Significa Other Observat Inputs (Level 2)	Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)	
Money market funds	\$ 24,369		59 \$ —	\$ —	
Corporate bonds	11,594	11,594		_	
Municipal bonds	10 000				
Certificates of deposit	13,903 4,314		13,903 4,314		

Total assets at fair value on a recurring basis \$54,180 \$35,963 \$18,217

Our Level 2 investments are valued using readily available pricing sources which utilize market observable inputs, including the current interest rate for similar types of instruments.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

6. Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:

	Depreciable	March 31,	September 3	30,
	Lives (in years)	2016	2015	
Land	_	\$3,189	\$ 3,189	
Buildings and building improvements	30-35	78,704	79,555	
Leasehold improvements	1-28	39,172	39,326	
Training equipment	3-10	91,603	87,795	
Office and computer equipment	3-10	38,362	38,776	
Curriculum development	5	18,702	18,716	
Software developed for internal use	3-5	11,694	11,859	
Vehicles	5	1,237	1,233	
Construction in progress	_	3,289	3,941	
		285,952	284,390	
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization		(166,206)	(160,246)
		\$119,746	\$ 124,144	

The following amounts, which are included in the above table, represent assets financed by financing obligations resulting from the build-to-suit arrangements at our Lisle, Illinois and Long Beach, California campuses:

	March	September	30,
	31, 2016	2015	
Buildings and building improvements	\$45,816	\$ 45,816	
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization	(4,821)	(3,480)
Assets financed by financing obligations, net	\$40,995	\$ 42,336	

7. Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliates

We have an equity interest of approximately 28% in a joint venture related to the lease of our Lisle, Illinois campus facility (JV). In connection with this investment, we do not possess a controlling financial interest as we do not hold a majority of the equity interest, nor do we have the power to make major decisions without approval from the other equity member. Therefore, we do not qualify as the primary beneficiary. Accordingly, this investment is accounted for under the equity method of accounting and is included in other assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheets. We recognize our proportionate share of the net income or loss during each accounting period and any return of capital as a change in our investment.

Currently, the JV uses an interest rate cap to manage interest rate risk associated with its floating rate debt. This derivative instrument is designated as a cash flow hedge based on the nature of the risk being hedged. As such, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative is initially reported as a component of the JV's accumulated other comprehensive income or loss, net of tax, and is subsequently reclassified into earnings when the hedged transaction affects earnings. Any ineffective portion of the gain or loss is recognized in the JV's current earnings. Due to our

equity method investment in the JV, when the JV reports a current year component of other comprehensive income (OCI), we, as an investor, likewise adjust our investment account for the change in investee equity. In addition, we adjust our OCI for our share of the JV's currently reported OCI item.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

Additionally, in February 2016, we made an investment in and entered into a licensing agreement with Pro-MECH Learning Systems, LLC (Pro-MECH), a company that provides comprehensive technician development programs and shop operations services. This investment, which included \$0.7 million in cash as well as the conversion of a \$0.3 million note receivable extended during the first quarter of 2016, resulted in our ownership of 25% of the outstanding equity interests of Pro-MECH. The \$1.0 million investment is accounted for under the equity method of accounting and is included in other assets in our condensed consolidated balance sheets. We recognize our proportionate share of the net income or loss during each accounting period and any return of capital as a change in our investment. Investment in unconsolidated affiliates consisted of the following:

March 31, 2016 September 30, 2015

Carryin@wnership Value Percentage Value Percentage
Investment in JV \$4,010 27.972 % \$3,986 27.972 %

Investment in Pro-MECH \$974 25.000 % \$— —

Investment in unconsolidated affiliates included the following activity during the period:

Ended March 31. 2015 2016 Balance at beginning of period \$3,986 \$3,903 Investment in unconsolidated affiliate 1,000 Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates 239 254 Return of capital contribution from unconsolidated affiliates (240) (228)Equity interest in investee's unrealized gains (losses) on hedging derivatives, net of taxes) 17 Balance at end of period \$4,984 \$3,946

8. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following:

	March 31, 2016	September 30, 2015
Accounts payable	\$8,096	\$ 14,498
Accrued compensation and benefits	17,955	17,534
Other accrued expenses	8,675	10,588
_	\$34,726	\$ 42,620

9. Income Taxes

Six Months

Each reporting period, we estimate the likelihood that we will be able to recover our deferred tax assets, which represent timing differences in the recognition of revenue and certain tax deductions for accounting and tax purposes. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent, in part, upon future taxable income. In assessing the

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

need for a valuation allowance, we consider all available evidence, including our historical profitability and projections of future taxable income. If, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not the deferred tax assets will not be realized, we record a valuation allowance. Such valuation allowance is maintained on our deferred tax assets until sufficient positive evidence exists to support its reversal in future periods. The weight given to the positive and negative evidence is commensurate with the extent to which the evidence may be objectively verified. Significant judgment is required to determine if, and the extent to which, valuation allowances should be recorded against deferred tax assets.

During the three months ended March 31, 2016, there were several pieces of negative evidence that contributed to our conclusion that a valuation allowance is appropriate against all deferred tax assets that rely upon future taxable income for their realization. This new negative evidence includes (1) a significant pre-tax loss during the three months ended March 31, 2016, (2) deterioration in leading indicators, such as applications and new student starts, and projected population during the three months ended March 31, 2016, which negatively impacts projected future operating results, (3) current financial projections that indicate we will be in a 3-year cumulative loss position during 2016 and (4) the continued challenging business and regulatory environment facing for-profit education institutions.

As a result of our assessment, we recorded \$27.9 million in income tax expense related to the increase in the valuation allowance within our statements of comprehensive income (loss) in the current period. The amount of the deferred tax assets considered realizable, however, could be adjusted in future periods if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward period are increased, if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer present and if additional weight may be given to subjective evidence such as our projections for growth. We will continue to evaluate our valuation allowance in future periods for any change in circumstances that causes a change in judgment about the realizability of the deferred tax assets.

The components of income tax expense are as follows:

1	1				
	Three M	onths	Six Months		
	Ended M	1arch	Ended March		
	31,		31,		
	2016	2015	2016	2015	
Current expense (benefit)					
United States federal	\$(1,956)\$1,152	2\$(3,376)\$1,101	
State	33	259	170	557	
Total current expense (benefit)	(1,923)1,411	(3,206)1,658	
Deferred (benefit) expense					
United States federal	24,438	162	24,876	2,051	
State	3,148	62	3,052	163	
Total deferred (benefit) expense	27,586	224	27,928	2,214	
Total provision for income taxes	\$25,663	\$1,635	\$24,722	\$3,872	

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

The income tax provision differs from the tax that would result from application of the statutory federal tax rate of 35.0% to pre-tax income for the period. The reasons for the differences are as follows:

	Three Months		Six Months	
	Ended March		Ended March	
	31,		31,	
	2016	2015	2016	2015
Income tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate	\$(2,219)\$766	\$(3,136)\$2,632
State income taxes (benefits), net of federal tax benefit	(150)231	(158)526
Deferred tax asset write-off related to share based compensation	46	594	51	626
Increase in valuation allowance	27,949	_	27,949	
Other, net	37	44	16	88
Total income tax expense	\$25,663	\$1,635	5\$24,722	\$3,872

Beginning in December 2013, certain stock-based compensation awards granted to employees expired, which required a write-off of the related deferred tax asset through income tax expense as our pro forma windfall pool of available excess tax benefits was no longer sufficient to absorb the shortfall.

The components of the deferred tax assets (liabilities) recorded in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets were as follows:

	March 31,	September	30,
	2016	2015	
Gross deferred tax assets:			
Deferred compensation	\$1,725	\$ 1,784	
Reserves and accruals	5,646	5,395	
Accrued tool sets	1,355	1,460	
Deferred revenue	19,690	19,606	
Deferred rent liability	1,574	1,939	
Net operating loss carryovers	545	83	
State tax credit carryforwards	337	310	
Valuation allowance	(28,350)(401)
Total gross deferred tax assets	2,522	30,176	
Gross deferred tax liabilities:			
Amortization of goodwill	(3,140)(3,140)
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment	(674)(421)
Prepaid and other expenses deductible for tax	(1,849)(1,828)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities	(5,663)(5,389)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities)	\$(3,141)\$ 24,787	

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

The following table summarizes the activity for the valuation allowance for the six months ended March 31, 2016:

Additions
Balance at
Beginning of Write-offs End of
Period Expense

Additions
Balance at
Period Period
Expense

\$401\$27,949\$ -\$28,350

10. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal

In the ordinary conduct of our business, we are periodically subject to lawsuits, demands in arbitration, investigations, regulatory proceedings or other claims, including, but not limited to, claims involving current or former students, routine employment matters, business disputes and regulatory demands. When we are aware of a claim or potential claim, we assess the likelihood of any loss or exposure. If it is probable that a loss will result and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, we accrue a liability for the loss. When a loss is not both probable and estimable, we do not accrue a liability. Where a loss is not probable but is reasonably possible, including if a loss in excess of an accrued liability is reasonably possible, we determine whether it is possible to provide an estimate of the amount of the loss or range of possible losses for the claim. Because we cannot predict with certainty the ultimate resolution of the legal proceedings (including lawsuits, investigations, regulatory proceedings or claims) asserted against us, it is not currently possible to provide such an estimate. The ultimate outcome of pending legal proceedings to which we are a party may have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows, results of operations or financial condition.

In September 2012, we received a Civil Investigative Demand (CID) from the Attorney General of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts related to a pending investigation in connection with allegations that we caused false claims to be submitted to the Commonwealth relating to student loans, guarantees and grants provided to students at our Norwood, Massachusetts campus. The CID required us to produce documents and provide written testimony regarding a broad range of our business from September 2006 to September 2012. We responded timely to the request. The Attorney General made a follow-up request for documents, and we complied with this request in February 2013. In response to a status update request from us, the Attorney General has requested and we have provided additional documents and information related to graduate employment at our Norwood, Massachusetts campus and our policies and practices for determining graduate employment. At this time, we cannot predict the eventual scope, duration, outcome or associated costs of this request, and accordingly we have not recorded any liability in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

On July 17, 2015, we received a subpoena from the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Western District of North Carolina (U.S. Attorney's Office) issued pursuant to the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA). The subpoena covered a broad range of matters relating to our Mooresville, North Carolina campus operations over the past several years. It also sought documents and information relating to our compliance with the "90/10 rule" and other programs and practices. On March 17, 2016, the U.S. Attorney's Office informed us that we have complied with the FIRREA subpoena. No adverse action has been taken or is anticipated relating to this subpoena. Further, the U.S. Attorney's Office confirmed that neither UTI nor NASCAR Technical Institute is the subject or target

of any inquiry or under investigation by the U.S. Attorney's Office.

Table of Contents

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
(\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

In November 2015, one of our software vendors notified us of potential additional license and maintenance fees for the use of its software. We reached a final settlement during the three months ended March 31, 2016 for the amount of the immaterial expense recorded during the three months ended December 31, 2015.

Proprietary Loan Program

In order to provide funding for students who are not able to fully finance the cost of their education under traditional governmental financial aid programs, commercial loan programs or other alternative sources, we established a private loan program with a bank.

Under terms of the proprietary loan program, the bank originates loans for our students who meet our specific credit criteria with the related proceeds used exclusively to fund a portion of their tuition. We then purchase all such loans from the bank at least monthly and assume all of the related credit risk. The loans bear interest at market rates; however, principal and interest payments are not required until six months after the student completes or withdraws from his or her program. After the deferral period, monthly principal and interest payments are required over the related term of the loan.

The bank provides these services in exchange for a fee at a percentage of the principal balance of each loan and related fees. Under the terms of the related agreement, we transfer funds for loan purchases to a deposit account with the bank in advance of the bank funding the loan, which secures our related loan purchase obligation. Such funds are classified as restricted cash in our condensed consolidated balance sheet.

In substance, we provide the students who participate in this program with extended payment terms for a portion of their tuition and as a result, we account for the underlying transactions in accordance with our tuition revenue recognition policy. However, due to the nature of the program coupled with the extended payment terms required under the student loan agreements, collectability is not reasonably assured. Accordingly, we recognize tuition and loan origination fees financed by the loan and any related interest income required under the loan when such amounts are collected. All related expenses incurred with the bank or other service providers are expensed as incurred within educational services and facilities expense and were approximately \$0.3 million and \$0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and approximately \$0.8 million for each of the six months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015. Since loan collectability is not reasonably assured, the loans and related deferred tuition revenue are not recognized in our condensed consolidated balance sheets.

The following table summarizes the impact of the proprietary loan program on our tuition revenue and interest income during the period as well as on a cumulative basis at the end of each period in our condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). Tuition revenue and interest income excluded represents amounts which would have been recognized during the period had collectability of the related amounts been assured. Amounts collected and recognized represent actual cash receipts during the period.

Three Months Six Months Ended Ended March 31, March 31, 2016 2015 2016 2015 Inception to date

Tuition and interest income excluded \$5,518 \$6,377 \$12,164 \$12,777 \$132,257

Amounts collected and recognized (1,837) (1,454) (3,372)(2,511) (17,291)

Net amount excluded during the period \$3,681 \$4,923 \$8,792 \$10,266 \$114,966

As of March 31, 2016, we had committed to provide loans to our students for approximately \$130.8 million since inception.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

The following table summarizes the activity related to the balances outstanding under our proprietary loan program, including loans outstanding, interest and origination fees, which are not recognized in our condensed consolidated balance sheets. Amounts written off represent amounts which have been turned over to third party collectors; such amounts are not included within bad debt expense in our condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss).

	Six Months Ended		
	March 31,		
	2016	2015	
Balance at beginning of period	\$74,664	\$70,759	
Loans extended	10,056	11,244	
Interest accrued	1,863	1,421	
Amounts collected and recognized	(3,372)	(2,511)	
Amounts written off	(7,724)	(6,248)	
Balance at end of period	\$75,487	\$74,665	

11. Common Shareholders' Equity

Common Stock

Holders of our common stock are entitled to receive dividends when and as declared by our Board of Directors and have the right to one vote per share on all matters requiring shareholder approval. On October 5, 2015, December 18, 2015 and March 31, 2016, we paid cash dividends of \$0.02 per share to common stockholders of record as of September 28, 2015, December 4, 2015 and March 21, 2016, respectively, totaling approximately \$1.5 million. Our Board of Directors regularly evaluates our dividends and may adjust the amount and/or frequency of or discontinue dividends in future periods.

Share Repurchase Program

On December 20, 2011, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to \$25.0 million of our common stock in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions. The timing and actual number of shares purchased will depend on a variety of factors such as price, corporate and regulatory requirements and prevailing market conditions. We may terminate or limit the share repurchase program at any time without prior notice. We did not repurchase shares during the six months ended March 31, 2016. As of March 31, 2016, we have purchased 1,677,570 shares at an average price per share of \$9.09 and a total cost of approximately \$15.3 million under this program.

12. Earnings per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income per share reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities, if any. For the three months and six months ended March 31, 2015, 678,481 and 715,458 shares, respectively, which could be issued under outstanding stock-based grants were not included in the determination of our diluted shares outstanding as they were anti-dilutive. For the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016, diluted loss per share equaled basic loss per share as the assumed activity related to outstanding stock-based grants would have an anti-dilutive effect.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

The calculation of the weighted average number of shares outstanding used in computing basic and diluted net income (loss) per share was as follows:

Weighted average number of shares (In thousands

Basic shares outstanding 24,270 24,463 24,25224,647 Dilutive effect related to employee stock plans — 88 — 94 Diluted shares outstanding 24,270 24,551 24,25224,741

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

13. Segment Information

Our principal business is providing postsecondary education. We also provide manufacturer-specific training and these operations are managed separately from our campus operations. These operations do not currently meet the quantitative criteria for segments and therefore are reflected in the Other category. Our equity method investments and other non-Postsecondary Education operations are also included within the Other category. Corporate expenses are allocated to Postsecondary Education and the Other category based on compensation expense. Depreciation and amortization includes amortization of assets subject to financing obligation.

Summary information by reportable segment is as follows:

Summing meeting of repertur	Three Months		Six Months Ended		
	Ended March 31,			•	
	2016	2015	2016	2015	
Revenues					
Postsecondary Education	\$84,737	\$88,101		\$ 181,003	
Other	3,455	3,134	-		
Consolidated	\$88,192	\$91,235	\$177,965	\$ 186,915	
Income (loss) from operations					
Postsecondary Education	\$(4,693))\$ 9,351	
Other	(1,077)	(500)	(2,054)(1,349)	
Consolidated	\$(5,770)	\$2,402	(7,963)8,002	
Depreciation and amortization ⁽¹⁾					
Postsecondary Education	\$4,402	\$4,774	\$8,722	\$ 9,649	
Other	238	66	301	141	
Consolidated	\$4,640	\$4,840	\$9,023	\$ 9,790	
Net income (loss)					
Postsecondary Education	\$(31,714)	\$761	\$(32,940)\$ 4,262	
Other	(288)	(206)	(742)(613)	
Consolidated	\$(32,002)	\$555	\$(33,682)\$ 3,649	
			March 31	, September 30,	
			2016	2015	
Goodwill					
Postsecondary Education			\$8,222	\$ 8,222	
Other			783	_	
Consolidated			\$9,005	\$ 8,222	
Total assets					
Postsecondary Education			\$221,005	\$ 266,922	
Other			8,857	7,380	
Consolidated			\$229,862	\$ 274,302	

⁽¹⁾ Excludes depreciation of training equipment obtained in exchange for services of \$0.3 million for each of the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and of \$0.6 million for each of the six months ended March 31,

2016 and 2015, respectively.

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED) (\$'s in thousands, except per share amounts)

14. Acquisitions

On February 9, 2016, we entered into an agreement to acquire substantially all of the assets of BrokenMyth Studios, LLC (BMS), a New York-based full production studio that offers a variety of services, including system architecture design, application and website development, interactive media development and digital technical training for diesel, medical, and industrial equipment companies.

The cash purchase price for this transaction was \$1.5 million, and the acquisition includes potential contingent consideration payments in the future. The payment of the contingent consideration, which has a maximum value of \$0.9 million, is based upon BMS's achievement of certain operating income metrics over the three-year period following the date of acquisition. On the acquisition date, we estimated the fair value of the contingent consideration to be \$0.2 million using a discounted cash flow valuation method encompassing unobservable inputs, including projected operating results for the performance period and the discount rate applied.

We incurred transaction costs of less than \$0.1 million for this acquisition, which are included within selling, general, and administrative expenses on our condensed consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss). We accounted for the acquisition as a business combination and allocated the purchase price to the assets acquired at fair value as summarized below:

	Purchase	
	Price	Useful Life (Years)
	Allocation	
BMS brand	\$ 488	5
Work in process	224	0.25
Customer relationships	250	5
Goodwill	783	Indefinite
Total assets acquired	1,745	
Less: Fair value of contingent consideration	(245)	
Cash paid for acquisition (purchase price)	\$ 1,500	

We determined the fair value of the assets acquired based on assumptions that reasonable market participants would use while employing the concept of highest and best use of each respective item. No liabilities were assumed in this transaction. The BMS brand intangible was valued using the relief-from-royalty method, which represents the benefit of owning the intangible as opposed to paying royalties for its use. The remaining intangibles were valued using income or replacement cost approaches. We determined that the acquired intangibles are finite-lived and we are amortizing them on a straight-line basis that reflects the pattern in which we expect the economic benefits of such assets to be consumed. Additionally, we recorded approximately \$0.8 million in goodwill as a result of this acquisition, which is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The goodwill is primarily attributable to future earnings potential and to other intangibles that do not qualify for separate recognition, such as assembled workforce. We have included BMS in our Other reportable segment.

The operating results of BMS are included in our condensed consolidated financial statements from the date of the acquisition forward. We have not provided pro forma information or the revenue and operating results of the acquired entity because its results of operations are not material to our condensed consolidated results of operations.

Table of Contents

Item 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this report and those in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 2, 2015. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including but not limited to those described under "Risk Factors" in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K and included in Part II, Item 1A of this report. See also "Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" on page ii of this report.

Overview

We are the leading provider of postsecondary education for students seeking careers as professional automotive, diesel, collision repair, motorcycle and marine technicians as measured by total average undergraduate enrollment and graduates. We offer undergraduate degree or diploma programs at 12 campuses across the United States. We also offer MSAT programs, including student-paid electives, at our campuses and manufacturer or dealer sponsored training at certain campuses and dedicated training centers. We have provided technical education for 50 years.

We work closely with leading OEMs in the automotive, diesel, motorcycle and marine industries to understand their needs for qualified service professionals. Through our relationships with OEMs, we are able to continuously refine and expand our programs and curricula. We believe our industry-oriented educational philosophy and national presence have enabled us to develop valuable industry relationships, which provide us with significant competitive strength and support our market leadership. We are a primary, and often the sole, provider of MSAT programs, and we have relationships with over 30 OEMs.

Participating manufacturers typically assist us in the development of course content and curricula, while providing us with vehicles, equipment, specialty tools and parts at reduced prices or at no charge. In some instances they pay for students' tuition. Our collaboration with OEMs enables us to provide highly specialized education to our students, resulting in enhanced employment opportunities and the potential for higher wages for our graduates. Our industry partners and their dealers benefit from a supply of technicians who are certified or credentialed by the manufacturer as graduates of the MSAT programs. The MSAT programs offer a cost-effective alternative for sourcing and developing technicians for both OEMs and their dealers. These relationships also support the development of incremental revenue opportunities from training the OEMs' existing employees.

2016 Overview

Operations

Lower student population levels as we began 2016 and fewer new student starts during the period resulted in a decline of 9.0% in our average undergraduate full-time student enrollment to approximately 12,200 students for the three months ended March 31, 2016. We started approximately 2,300 students during the three months ended March 31, 2016, which was a decrease of 14.8% from the prior year comparable period. For the six months ended March 31, 2016, we started approximately 4,100 students, which represents a decrease of 8.9% as compared to the prior year comparable period.

Table of Contents

Several factors continue to challenge our ability to start new students, including the following:

Incentive compensation changes, which became effective July 1, 2011, limited the means by which we may compensate our admissions representatives and required significant changes to our compensation and performance management processes;

• Competition for prospective students continues to increase from within our sector and from market employers, as well as with traditional post-secondary educational institutions;

Access to military bases for student recruitment; our access to bases has become more limited due to recent changes in the Transition Assistance Program (Transition Goals, Plans, Success) and increased enforcement of the MOU requirement, as well as recent events within the education and training services industry;

The state of the general macro-economic environment and its impact on price sensitivity and the ability and willingness of students and their families to incur debt;

• Unemployment; during periods when the unemployment rate declines or remains stable as it has in recent years, prospective students have more employment options; and

Adverse media coverage, legislative hearings, regulatory actions and investigations by attorneys general and various agencies related to allegations of wrongdoing on the part of other companies within the education and training services industry, which have cast the industry in a negative light.

In response to these challenges, we continue to focus on our key strategies. We continue to add and renew contracts with our OEM partners as well as other employers to provide career opportunities and tuition reimbursement for our graduates. We opened our Long Beach, California campus in August 2015 and continue to evaluate potential sites for an additional new campus location. Additionally, we plan to begin offering two new programs, welding and CNC machining, in fiscal 2017. We continue to work to help students choose course and program structures that make getting an education more affordable and to balance our scholarship offerings with increased financial support from employers of our graduates. During 2015, we launched an initiative designed to shift perceptions and build advocacy with key policy makers and influencers. Finally, we remain focused on operating our business as efficiently as possible and managing discretionary operating costs.

The U.S. Department of Education (ED) published guidance in November 2015 that eliminated certain restrictions on incentive compensation for admissions representatives. Specifically, ED reconsidered its previous interpretation and has now indicated that regulations do not prohibit compensation for admissions representatives that is based upon students' graduation from, or completion of, educational programs. Enrollment-based compensation, however, continues to be prohibited. Please see further discussion in "Business - Regulatory Environment - Regulation of Federal Student Financial Aid Programs - Incentive Compensation" included in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 2, 2015. We continue to evaluate our options and we may adjust our compensation practices in accordance with the recently issued guidance. We anticipate that, should we adjust our compensation practices, any such changes would not be implemented until later this year.

Our revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2016 were \$88.2 million, a decline of \$3.0 million, or 3.3%, from the comparable period in the prior year. We incurred an operating loss of \$5.8 million compared to operating income of \$2.4 million for the same period in the prior year. Our operating results were due in part to the decline in revenues, which, while partially offset by tuition rate increases, were negatively impacted by the decline in our average undergraduate full-time student enrollment. Additionally, our results of operations were impacted by the opening of our new campus in Long Beach, California in August 2015. For the three months ended March 31, 2016, this campus had revenues of \$2.6 million and operating expenses of \$5.0 million, including corporate overhead allocations of \$1.7 million. We incurred a net loss of \$32.0 million compared to net income of \$0.6 million, primarily as a result of the determination that an additional valuation allowance on our deferred tax

Table of Contents

assets was necessary, which resulted in related income tax expense of \$27.9 million. The overall decline in revenues for the period was also a contributing factor to the net loss incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2016. See Note 9 of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements within this Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion of the deferred tax asset valuation allowance and related expense.

Our revenues for the six months ended March 31, 2016 were \$178.0 million, a decline of \$8.9 million, or 4.8%, from the comparable period in the prior year. We incurred an operating loss of \$8.0 million compared to operating income of \$8.0 million for the same period in the prior year. Our operating results were due in part to the decline in revenues, which, while partially offset by tuition rate increases, were negatively impacted by the decline in our average undergraduate full-time student enrollment. Additionally, our results of operations were impacted by the opening of our new campus in Long Beach, California in August 2015. For the six months ended March 31, 2016, this campus had revenues of \$4.5 million and operating expenses of \$9.8 million, including corporate overhead allocations of \$3.1 million. We incurred a net loss of \$33.7 million compared to net income of \$3.6 million, primarily as a result of the determination that an additional valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets was necessary, which resulted in related income tax expense of \$27.9 million. The overall decline in revenues for the period was also a contributing factor to the net loss incurred during the six months ended March 31, 2016. See Note 9 of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements within this Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion of the deferred tax asset valuation allowance and related expense.

Valuation Allowance

Each reporting period, we estimate the likelihood that we will be able to recover our deferred tax assets, which represent timing differences in the recognition of revenue and certain tax deductions for accounting and tax purposes. The realization of deferred tax assets is dependent, in part, upon future taxable income. Assessing the need for a valuation allowance requires significant judgment, and we consider all available evidence, including our historical profitability and projections of future taxable income.

During the three months ended March 31, 2016, there were several pieces of negative evidence that have contributed to our conclusion that a valuation allowance is appropriate against all deferred tax assets that rely upon future taxable income for their realization. This new negative evidence includes (1) a significant pre-tax loss during the three months ended March 31, 2016, (2) deterioration in leading indicators, such as applications and new student starts, and projected population during the three months ended March 31, 2016, which negatively impacts projected future operating results, (3) current financial projections that indicate we will be in a 3-year cumulative loss position during 2016 and (4) the continued challenging business and regulatory environment facing for-profit education institutions.

As a result of our assessment, we recorded \$27.9 million in income tax expense related to the increase in the valuation allowance within our statements of comprehensive income (loss) in the current period. We will maintain a valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets until sufficient positive evidence exists to support its reversal. See Note 9 of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements within this Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion.

Table of Contents

Transactions

In February 2016, we made an investment in and entered into a licensing agreement with Pro-MECH, a company that provides comprehensive technician development programs and shop operations services. This investment, which included \$0.7 million in cash as well as the conversion of a \$0.3 million note receivable extended during the first quarter of 2016, resulted in our ownership of 25% of the outstanding equity interests of this company. See Note 7 of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements within this Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion.

Also in February 2016, we acquired substantially all of the assets of BMS, a New York-based full production studio that offers a variety of services, including system architecture design, application and website development, interactive media development and digital technical training for diesel, medical, and industrial equipment companies. The cash purchase price for this transaction was \$1.5 million, and the acquisition includes potential contingent consideration payments in the future of up to \$0.9 million. See Note 14 of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements within this Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion.

Industry Background

The market for qualified service technicians is large and growing. In the most recent data available, the United States Department of Labor (U.S. DOL) estimated that in 2014 there were approximately 739,900 employed automotive technicians in the United States, and this number was expected to increase by 5.3% from 2014 to 2024. Other 2014 estimates provided by the U.S. DOL indicate that the number of technicians in the other industries we serve, including diesel, collision, motorcycle and marine repair, are expected to increase by 12.0%, 9.2%, 5.9% and 2.7%, respectively. The need for technicians is due to a variety of factors, including technological advancement in the industries into which our graduates enter, a continued increase in the number of automobiles, trucks, motorcycles and boats in service, the increasing lifespan of late-model automobiles and light trucks and an aging workforce that has begun to retire. As a result of these factors, the U.S. DOL estimates that an average of approximately 37,200 new job openings will exist annually for new entrants from 2014 to 2024 in the fields that we serve, according to data collected. In addition to the increase in demand for newly qualified technicians, manufacturers, dealer networks, transportation companies and governmental entities with large fleets are outsourcing their training functions, seeking preferred education providers who can offer high quality curricula and have a national presence to meet the employment and advanced training needs of their national dealer networks.

Automotive Technology and Diesel Technology II Integration

We currently offer the Automotive Technology and Diesel Technology II curricula at our Avondale, Arizona; Dallas/Ft. Worth, Texas; Long Beach, California; Orlando, Florida and Sacramento, California campuses.

The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) shares responsibility for VA benefit approval and oversight with designated State Approving Agencies (SAAs). SAAs play a critical role in evaluating institutions and their programs to determine if they meet VA benefit eligibility requirements. Processes and approval criterion as well as interpretation of applicable requirements can vary from state to state. Therefore, approval in one state does not necessarily result in approval in all states. Please see further discussion in "Business - Regulatory Environment - Other Federal and State Programs - Veterans' Benefits" included in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 2, 2015.

Since July 2012, the Texas SAA has approved the use of Veterans benefits to fund tuition under our original Automotive Technology and Diesel Technology II delivery method at our Dallas/Ft. Worth, Texas campus. During 2015, we were in contact with the Texas SAA regarding a transition to an alternative delivery method for veterans at this campus, and the enrollment of veteran students at this campus was discontinued in July 2015. The Texas SAA

had communicated that the program at this campus remained approved until April 15, 2016. We submitted modifications to the Accrediting Commission of Career Schools and Colleges (ACCSC), which we believe will

Table of Contents

meet the criteria outlined by the Texas SAA. We received ACCSC approval in February 2016 and state approval in March 2016; we have submitted the modifications to the Texas SAA and are awaiting approval.

Graduate Employment

Our consolidated graduate employment rate for our 2015 graduates during the six months ended March 31, 2016 is below the rate at the same time in the prior year. The rate has improved slightly for our Marine program, while the rate has declined for our Automotive and Diesel Technology, Collision Repair and Motorcycle programs. While demand for our graduates remains strong, the rate declined since the prior year due to internal operational challenges that resulted in an employment verification backlog. We have worked to address such challenges throughout the first half of 2016 and, as a result, have begun to see improvement in the year-over-year variance in the employment rate as of March 31, 2016.

Regulatory Environment

As previously discussed, in 2015, one of our programs at our Norwood, Massachusetts campus did not achieve ACCSC graduation or employment benchmarks and was placed on heightened monitoring status. Please see further discussion in "Business - Regulatory Environment - Accreditation" included in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 2, 2015. The program had three graduates during the 2011 reporting period and we have decided to discontinue the program. We received ACCSC approval to discontinue the program in November 2015 and received confirmation in March 2016 that the heightened monitoring status is no longer applicable.

2016 Outlook

For the year ending September 30, 2016, we expect new student starts and our average student population to be down in the mid to high single digits as a percentage compared with the year ended September 30, 2015. While annual tuition increases will slightly offset the decline in average students, we expect revenue to decline approximately 5 - 6% leading to minimal levels of EBITDA. Accordingly, we have modified certain project timelines resulting in lower anticipated capital expenditures which are now expected to be in the range of \$9.0 to \$10.0 million in 2016. Due to the seasonality of our business and normal fluctuations in student populations, we would expect volatility in our quarterly results.

Table of Contents

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected statements of operations data as a percentage of revenues for each of the periods indicated.

	Three Months Ended March 31,		Six Months Ended March 31,	
	2016	2015	2016 2015	
Revenues	100.0 %	100.0 %	100.0 % 100.0 %	
Operating expenses:				
Educational services and facilities	56.4 %	52.8 %	55.9 % 51.3 %	
Selling, general and administrative	50.1 %	44.6 %	48.6 % 44.3 %	
Total operating expenses	106.5 %	97.4 %	104.5 % 95.6 %	
Income (loss) from operations	(6.5)%	2.6 %	(4.5)%4.4 %	
Interest expense, net	(0.9)%	(0.5)%	(0.9)%(0.5)%	
Other income	0.2 %	0.3 %	0.4 % 0.2 %	
Total other (expense) income, net	(0.7)%	(0.2)%	(0.5)%(0.3)%	
Income (loss) before income taxes	(7.2)%	2.4 %	(5.0)%4.1 %	
Income tax expense	29.1 %	1.8 %	13.9 % 2.1 %	
Net income (loss)	(36.3)%	0.6 %	(18.9)%2.0 %	

Table of Contents

Three Months Ended March 31, 2016 Compared to Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 and Six Months Ended March 31, 2016 Compared to Six Months Ended March 31, 2015

Revenues. Our revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2016 were \$88.2 million, a decrease of \$3.0 million, or 3.3%, as compared to revenues of \$91.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The 9.0% decrease in our average undergraduate full-time student enrollment resulted in a decrease in revenues of approximately \$8.5 million. The decrease was partially offset by tuition rate increases of up to 5%, depending on the program. Our revenues for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 excluded \$4.6 million and \$5.7 million, respectively, of tuition related to students participating in our proprietary loan program. We recognized \$1.8 million and \$1.5 million of revenues and interest under our proprietary loan program for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Our revenues for the six months ended March 31, 2016 were \$178.0 million, a decrease of \$8.9 million, or 4.8%, as compared to revenues of \$186.9 million for the six months ended March 31, 2015. The 9.3% decrease in our average undergraduate full-time student enrollment resulted in a decrease in revenues of approximately \$16.8 million. The decrease was partially offset by tuition rate increases of up to 5%, depending on the program. Our revenues for the six months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 excluded \$10.3 million and \$11.4 million, respectively, of tuition related to students participating in our proprietary loan program. We recognized \$3.4 million and \$2.5 million of revenues and interest under our proprietary loan program for the six months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Educational services and facilities expenses. Our educational services and facilities expenses for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016 were \$49.8 million and \$99.4 million, respectively. This represents increases of \$1.7 million and \$3.4 million, respectively, as compared to \$48.1 million and \$96.0 million, respectively, for the three and six months ended March 31, 2015.

Our educational services and facilities expenses for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016 for our Long Beach, California campus were \$2.7 million and \$5.4 million, respectively, including corporate overhead allocations of \$0.2 million and \$0.4 million, respectively.

Table of Contents

The following table sets forth the significant components of our educational services and facilities expenses:

	Three M	onths	Six Months	
	Ended March 31, Ended			Iarch 31,
	2016	2015	2016	2015
	(In thousands)			
Salaries expense	\$22,750	\$21,452	\$44,726	\$42,485
Employee benefits and tax	4,659	3,874	9,206	7,930
Bonus expense	320	386	534	801
Stock-based compensation	71	72	135	145
Compensation and related costs	27,800	25,784	54,601	51,361
Occupancy costs	8,970	9,006	18,103	17,965
Depreciation and amortization expense	4,297	4,526	8,350	9,166
Other educational services and facilities expense	3,637	3,386	7,418	6,659
Supplies and maintenance	2,320	2,463	4,753	4,503
Tools and training aids expense	1,639	1,891	3,774	4,066
Contract services expense	1,107	1,087	2,423	2,253
	\$49,770	\$48,143	\$99,422	\$95,973

The increase in compensation and related costs of \$2.0 million and \$3.2 million for the three and six months ended March 31, 2016, respectively, were primarily related to the opening of our Long Beach, California campus in August 2015. Compensation and related costs for our Long Beach, California campus for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016 were \$1.2 million and \$2.1 million, respectively.

Employee benefits and tax increased \$0.8 million and \$1.3 for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016, respectively, as a result of the increase in the number of employees as well as an increase in self-insurance medical claims.

Selling, general and administrative expenses. Our selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016 were \$44.2 million and \$86.5 million, respectively. This represents increases \$3.5 million and \$3.6 million, respectively, as compared to \$40.7 million and \$82.9 million, respectively, for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2015.

Our selling, general and administrative expenses for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016 for our Long Beach, California campus were \$2.3 million and \$4.4 million, respectively, including corporate overhead allocations of \$1.5 million and \$2.7 million, respectively.

Table of Contents

The following table sets forth the significant components of our selling, general and administrative expenses:

	Three M	onths	Six Months	
	Ended March 31,		Ended March 31	
	2016	2015	2016	2015
	(In thousands)			
Salaries expense	\$17,247	\$16,141	\$34,452	\$33,305
Employee benefits and tax	3,924	3,293	7,816	6,911
Bonus expense	1,051	1,369	2,133	3,093
Stock-based compensation	1,304	1,253	2,151	2,053
Compensation and related costs	23,526	22,056	46,552	45,362
Advertising expense	11,743	11,664	22,125	21,762
Other selling, general and administrative expenses	8,010	6,990	15,802	14,285
Bad debt expense	270	(627)	752	307
Depreciation and amortization expense	643	607	1,275	1,224
	\$44,192	\$40,690	\$86,506	\$82,940

The increase in compensation and related costs of \$1.4 million and \$1.2 million for the three and six months ended March 31, 2016, respectively, was primarily related to the opening of our Long Beach, California campus in August 2015. Compensation and related costs for our Long Beach, California campus for the three and six months ended March 31, 2016 were \$0.8 million and \$1.6 million, respectively, including corporate salary and benefit allocations of \$0.5 million and \$1.0 million, respectively.

Employee benefits and tax increased \$0.6 million and \$0.9 million for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016, respectively, a result of the increase in the number of employees as well as an increase in self-insurance medical claims.

Additionally, bonus expense decreased \$0.3 million and \$1.0 million for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016, respectively. The decrease in bonus expense is attributable to recording expense based on anticipated annual operating results and attainment of non-financial metrics, which is lower than the prior year comparable period.

Bad debt expense increased \$0.9 million and \$0.5 million for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016, respectively, as compared to the same periods in the prior year. During the three months ended March 31, 2015, we reversed approximately \$1.0 million of bad debt expense recorded in 2011 and 2012 for processing issues related to student funds received from a non-Title IV federal funding agency. Based on communication with the agency in 2015, we determined it was no longer probable that we would be required to return such funds.

Income taxes. Our provision for income taxes for the three months ended March 31, 2016 was \$25.7 million, or 404.8% of pre-tax loss, compared to \$1.6 million, or 74.7% of pre-tax income, for the three months ended March 31, 2015. Our provision for income taxes for the six months ended March 31, 2016 was \$24.7 million, or 275.9% of pre-tax loss, compared to \$3.9 million, or 51.5% of pre-tax income, for the six months ended March 31, 2015. The increase in income tax expense is due primarily to the increase in the valuation allowance established on our deferred tax assets during the three months ended March 31, 2016. See Note 9 of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements within this Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion of the valuation allowance.

Table of Contents

The effective income tax rate in each period also differed from the federal statutory tax rate of 35% as a result of state income taxes, net of related federal income tax benefits, and due to tax expense related to share-based compensation.

At the time of our initial public offering in December 2003 we began awarding stock-based compensation in the form of stock options with a contractual life of 10 years. In subsequent years, we have awarded other forms of stock-based compensation with varying terms. In 2006, we adopted the authoritative guidance on accounting for stock-based compensation, which gave rise to deferred tax assets related to stock-based compensation timing differences between book expense and tax deductions, as well as a pro forma pool of windfall tax benefits. When tax deductions from stock-based compensation awards are less than the cumulative book compensation expense, the tax effect of the resulting difference (shortfall) is charged first to additional paid-in capital to the extent of our pro forma pool of windfall tax benefits, with any remainder written off to income tax expense. Such write-offs may be the result of expiration, exercise or vesting of prior stock-based compensation awards. The write-off of the deferred tax asset is a non-cash charge and is not a result of current operations.

During the six months ended March 31, 2016, the write-off of the deferred tax asset related to stock-based compensation resulted in income tax expense of less than \$0.1 million. As of March 31, 2016, we recorded a full valuation allowance of \$28.4 million on our deferred tax assets. As a result, any further write-offs in future periods of deferred tax assets related to stock-based compensation will have no impact on income tax expense, until such time that sufficient positive evidence exists to support the reversal of the deferred tax asset valuation allowance. Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Our earnings (loss) before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2016 were \$(0.6) million and \$2.3 million, respectively, as compared to \$7.8 million and \$18.9 million for the three months and six months ended March 31, 2015, respectively.

EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure which is provided to supplement, but not substitute for, the most directly comparable GAAP measure. We choose to disclose this non-GAAP financial measure because it provides an additional analytical tool to clarify our results from operations and helps to identify underlying trends. Additionally, this measure helps compare our performance on a consistent basis across time periods. To obtain a complete understanding of our performance, this measure should be examined in connection with net income determined in accordance with GAAP. Since the items excluded from this measure should be examined in connection with net income in determining financial performance under GAAP, this measure should not be considered to be an alternative to net income as a measure of our operating performance or profitability. Exclusion of items in our non-GAAP presentation should not be construed as an inference that these items are unusual, infrequent or non-recurring. Other companies, including other companies in the education industry, may calculate EBITDA differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure across companies. Investors are encouraged to use GAAP measures when evaluating our financial performance.

Table of Contents

EBITDA reconciles to net income as follows:

	Three Months		Six Months Ended		
	Ended March 31,		March 31,		
	2016	2015	2016	2015	
	(In thousands)				
Net income (loss)	\$(32,002)	\$555	\$(33,682)	\$3,649	
Interest expense, net	797	481	1,614	980	
Income tax expense	25,663	1,635	24,722	3,872	
Depreciation and amortization ⁽¹⁾	4,940	5,133	9,625	10,390	
EBITDA	\$(602)	\$7,804	\$2,279	\$18,891	

⁽¹⁾Includes depreciation of training equipment obtained in exchange for services of \$0.3 million for each of the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and of \$0.6 million for each of the six months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Based on past performance and current expectations, we believe that our cash flows from operations, cash on hand and investments will satisfy our working capital needs, capital expenditures, commitments and other liquidity requirements associated with our existing operations as well as the expansion of programs at existing campuses through the next 12 months. In light of the current environment and anticipated operating results, our composite score is under pressure and we may take steps to prevent our composite score from falling below 1.0. Should our composite score fall below 1.0, we may establish our financial responsibility with ED by posting a letter of credit and accepting provisional certification, complying with additional ED monitoring requirements and agreeing to receive Title IV program funds under an arrangement other than ED's standard advance funding arrangement. For further discussion of compliance with ED regulations, refer to "Risk Factors" included in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on December 2, 2015.

We believe that the strategic use of our cash resources includes funding our Long Beach, California campus as well as subsidizing funding alternatives for our students. Additionally, we evaluate the repurchase of our common stock, payment of dividends, consideration of strategic acquisitions, expansion of programs at existing campuses, opening additional campus locations and other potential uses of cash. In October 2015, December 2015 and March 2016, we paid quarterly cash dividends of \$0.02 per share on our common stock. To the extent that potential acquisitions are large enough to require financing beyond cash from operations, cash and cash equivalents and investments on hand or we need capital to fund operations, new campus openings or expansion of programs at existing campuses, we may enter into a credit facility, issue debt or issue equity. Additionally, to the extent that we enter into leasing transactions that result in financing obligations or capital leases, our interest expense would increase. Our aggregate cash and cash equivalents and current investments were \$50.5 million as of March 31, 2016.

Our principal source of liquidity is operating cash flows and existing cash, cash equivalent and investment balances. A majority of our revenues are derived from Title IV Programs and various veterans benefits programs. Federal regulations dictate the timing of disbursements of funds under Title IV Programs. Students must apply for new funding for each academic year consisting of thirty-week periods. Loan funds are generally provided by lenders in two disbursements for each academic year. The first disbursement for first-time borrowers is usually received 30 days after the start of a student's academic year and the second disbursement is typically received at the beginning of the sixteenth week from the start of the student's academic year. Under our proprietary loan program, we bear all credit and collection risk and students are not required to begin repayment until six months

Table of Contents

after the student completes or withdraws from his or her program. These factors, together with the timing of when our students begin their programs, affect our operating cash flow.

Operating Activities

Our cash used in operating activities was \$2.5 million for the six months ended March 31, 2016 compared to cash provided by operating activities of \$8.7 million for the six months ended March 31, 2015. For the six months ended March 31, 2016, changes in our operating assets and liabilities resulted in cash outflows of \$8.6 million and were primarily attributable to changes in receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses, deferred revenue and income tax receivable. The decrease in receivables resulted in a cash inflow of \$9.0 million and was primarily due to the timing of Title IV disbursements and other cash receipts on behalf of our students. The decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses resulted in a cash outflow of \$6.1 million. This decrease was primarily attributable to timing of invoices and capital expenditures. The decrease in deferred revenue resulted in a cash outflow of \$5.3 million and was primarily attributable to the timing of student starts, the number of students in school and where they were at period end in relation to the completion of their program at March 31, 2016 compared to September 30, 2015. The change in income tax from a payable position to a receivable position resulted in a cash outflow of \$4.6 million and was primarily due to the timing of tax payments.

For the six months ended March 31, 2015, changes in our operating assets and liabilities resulted in cash outflows of \$9.4 million and were primarily attributable to changes in deferred revenue, income tax payable and receivables. The decrease in deferred revenue resulted in a cash outflow of \$5.7 million. The decrease was primarily attributable to the timing of student starts, the number of students in school and where they were at period end in relation to the completion of their program at March 31, 2015 compared to September 30, 2014. The change in income tax from a payable position to a receivable position resulted in cash used of \$5.0 million and was primarily due to the timing of tax payments. The decrease in accounts receivable resulted in an inflow of \$2.6 million and was primarily due to the release of the remaining \$1.0 million reserve and receivable associated with prior year processing issues related to student funds received from a non-Title IV federal funding agency, as well as the receipt of \$1.3 million in outstanding tenant improvement allowances related to the expansion of our Orlando, Florida campus.

Investing Activities

During the six months ended March 31, 2016, cash provided by investing activities was \$15.3 million. We had cash inflows of \$19.3 million from proceeds received upon maturity of investments. We had cash outflows for the purchase of property and equipment of \$4.9 million, primarily related to purchases of new and replacement training equipment for our ongoing operations. For the year ending September 30, 2016, we anticipate investing in capital expenditures in the range of \$9.0 million to \$10.0 million, including approximately \$1.9 million for expansion of programs at existing campuses. We had a cash outflow of \$1.5 million related to the acquisition of BrokenMyth Studios, LLC and a cash outflow of \$1.0 million related to an investment in Pro-MECH Learning Systems, LLC, as further described at Note 14 and Note 7, respectively, of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements within this Report on Form 10-Q.

During the six months ended March 31, 2015, cash used in investing activities was \$20.0 million. We had cash outflows of \$24.4 million to purchase investments and cash inflows of \$22.4 million from proceeds received upon maturity of investments. We had cash outflows for the purchase of property and equipment of \$16.2 million, with \$9.7 million related to the purchase of our Houston, Texas campus facility, \$2.0 million related to the construction of our new Long Beach, California campus and the remainder related to the purchases of new and replacement training equipment for our ongoing operations.

Table of Contents

Financing Activities

During the six months ended March 31, 2016, cash used in financing activities was \$1.8 million and was primarily due to the payment of cash dividends on October 5, 2015, December 18, 2015 and March 31, 2016 of \$0.02 per share, totaling approximately \$1.5 million. Our Board of Directors regularly evaluates our dividends and may adjust the amount and/or frequency of or discontinue dividends in future periods.

During the six months ended March 31, 2015, cash used in financing activities was \$11.4 million and was primarily attributable to the repurchase of \$6.1 million of our common stock in combination with the payment of cash dividends on December 19, 2014 and March 31, 2015 of \$0.10 per share, totaling approximately \$4.9 million.

Share Repurchase Program

On December 20, 2011, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to \$25.0 million of our common stock in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions. The timing and actual number of shares purchased will depend on a variety of factors such as price, corporate and regulatory requirements and prevailing market conditions. We may terminate or limit the share repurchase program at any time without prior notice. We did not repurchase shares during the six months ended March 31, 2016. As of March 31, 2016, we have purchased 1,677,570 shares at an average price per share of \$9.09 and a total cost of approximately \$15.3 million under this program.

Seasonality and Trends

Our revenues and operating results normally fluctuate as a result of seasonal variations in our business, principally due to changes in total student population and costs associated with opening or expanding our campuses. Our student population varies as a result of new student enrollments, graduations and student attrition. Historically, we have had lower student populations in our third quarter than in the remainder of our year because fewer students are enrolled during the summer months. Additionally, we have had higher student populations in our fourth quarter than in the remainder of the year because more students enroll during this period. Our expenses, however, do not vary significantly with changes in student population and revenues and, as a result, such expenses do not fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis. We expect quarterly fluctuations in operating results to continue as a result of seasonal enrollment patterns. Such patterns may change, however, as a result of new school openings, new program introductions, increased enrollments of adult students or acquisitions. Furthermore, our revenues for the first quarter ending December 31 are impacted by the closure of our campuses for a week in December for a holiday break, during which time we do not earn revenue.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

There are no other significant changes in our critical accounting policies previously disclosed in Part II, Item 7 of our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 2, 2015, except as noted below.

Allowance for uncollectible accounts. We maintain an allowance for uncollectible accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability, failure or refusal of our students to make required payments. We offer a variety of payment plans to help students pay that portion of their education expenses not covered by financial aid programs or alternate fund sources, which are unsecured and not guaranteed.

We use estimates that are subjective and require judgment in determining the allowance for doubtful accounts, which are principally based on accounts receivable, historical percentages of uncollectible accounts, customer credit worthiness and changes in payment history when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for uncollectible accounts. We also monitor and consider external factors such as changes in the economic and

Table of Contents

regulatory environment. We use an internal group of collectors, augmented by third party collectors as deemed appropriate, in our collection efforts.

When a student with Title IV funds withdraws, Title IV rules determine the amount of funds, if any, to be returned to the original source of such funds. Additionally, state rules determine the amount of tuition we are entitled to collect. To the extent the amount we are entitled to collect exceeds Title IV or other funding sources, we would be entitled to collect these funds from the students. However, collection rates for these types of receivables are significantly lower than our collection rates for receivables for students who remain in our programs. At the time of withdrawal, we reassess revenue recognition and, based on historical collections results, we have determined that collectability is not reasonably assured. Accordingly, we recognize tuition revenue for such amounts when they are collected.

Although we believe that our allowance is adequate, if we underestimate the allowances required, additional allowances may be necessary, which would result in increased selling, general and administrative expenses in the period such determination is made.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information regarding recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 3 to our condensed consolidated financial statements within Part I, Item 1 of this report.

Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

There have been no material changes to our market risk since September 30, 2015. For a discussion of our exposure to market risk, refer to our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on December 2, 2015.

Item 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and our President and Chief Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act), pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15 as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and our President and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2016 were effective in ensuring that (i) information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms and (ii) information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d) that occurred during the three months ended March 31, 2016 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Table of Contents

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and President and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls over financial reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues, misstatements, errors and instances of fraud, if any, within our company have been or will be prevented or detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls also can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of controls effectiveness to future periods are subject to risks that internal controls may become inadequate as a result of changes in conditions, or through the deterioration of the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary conduct of our business, we are periodically subject to lawsuits, demands in arbitrations, investigations, regulatory proceedings or other claims, including, but not limited to, claims involving current and former students, routine employment matters, business disputes and regulatory demands. When we are aware of a claim or potential claim, we assess the likelihood of any loss or exposure. If it is probable that a loss will result and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, we would accrue a liability for the loss. When a loss is not both probable and estimable, we do not accrue a liability. Where a loss is not probable but is reasonably possible, including if a loss in excess of an accrued liability is reasonably possible, we determine whether it is possible to provide an estimate of the amount of the loss or range of possible losses for the claim. Because we cannot predict with certainty the ultimate resolution of the legal proceedings (including lawsuits, investigations, regulatory proceedings or claims) asserted against us, it is not currently possible to provide such an estimate. The ultimate outcome of pending legal proceedings to which we are a party may have a material adverse effect on our business, cash flows, results of operations or financial condition.

In September 2012, we received a Civil Investigative Demand (CID) from the Attorney General of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts related to a pending investigation in connection with allegations that we caused false claims to be submitted to the Commonwealth relating to student loans, guarantees and grants provided to students at our Norwood, Massachusetts campus. The CID required us to produce documents and provide written testimony regarding a broad range of our business from September 2006 to September 2012. We responded timely to the request. The Attorney General made a follow-up request for documents, and we complied with this request in February 2013. In response to a status update request from us, the Attorney General has requested and we have provided additional documents and information related to graduate employment at our Norwood, Massachusetts campus and our policies and practices for determining graduate employment. At this time, we cannot predict the eventual scope, duration, outcome or associated costs of this request, and accordingly we have not recorded any liability in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements.

On July 17, 2015, we received a subpoena from the U.S. Attorney's Office for the Western District of North Carolina (U.S. Attorney's Office) issued pursuant to the Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of 1989 (FIRREA). The subpoena covered a broad range of matters relating to our Mooresville, North Carolina campus operations over the past several years. It also sought documents and information relating to our compliance with the "90/10 rule" and other programs and practices. On March 17, 2016, the U.S. Attorney's Office informed us that we have

complied with the FIRREA subpoena. No adverse action has been taken or is

Table of Contents

anticipated relating to this subpoena. Further, the U.S. Attorney's Office confirmed that neither UTI nor NASCAR Technical Institute is the subject or target of any inquiry or under investigation by the U.S. Attorney's Office. In November 2015, one of our software vendors notified us of potential additional license and maintenance fees for the use of its software. We reached a final settlement during the three months ended March 31, 2016 for the amount of the immaterial expense recorded during the three months ended December 31, 2015.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, including the information contained in Part I, Item 3, you should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item IA of our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 2, 2015, which could materially affect our business, financial condition or operating results. The risks described in this report and in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or operating results.

Item 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On December 20, 2011, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to \$25.0 million of our common stock in the open market or through privately negotiated transactions.

The following table summarizes the purchase of equity securities for the three months ended March 31, 2016: ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

				Approxima	ate
Period			Total	Dollar Val	ue
	Total Number of Shares Purchased	Paid per	Number of	of Shares	
			Shares	that May	
			Purchased	Yet Be	
			as Part of	Purchased	
			Publicly	Under the	
			Announced	Plans Or	
			Plans or	Programs	
			Programs	(In	
				thousands)	
Tax Withholdings					
January 1-31, 2016		\$ —	_	\$	_
February 1-29, 2016	1,676	\$ 3.54	_	\$	_
March 1-31, 2016		\$ —		\$	_
Total	1,676	\$ 3.54		\$	—
Item 6. EXHIBITS					

The exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K which are filed or furnished with this report, as applicable, are set forth in the Exhibit Index.

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: April 29, 2016

UNIVERSAL TECHNICAL INSTITUTE, INC.

By: /s/ Eugene S. Putnam, Jr Eugene S. Putnam, Jr. President and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Duly Authorized Officer)

EXHIBIT INDEX

Number Description

- Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (Filed herewith.)
- Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (Filed herewith.)
- Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (Filed herewith.)
- Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. (Filed herewith.)

 Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2016, formatted in Extensible Business Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) Condensed Consolidated
- Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss); (iii) Condensed Consolidated Statement of Shareholders' Equity; (iv) Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows; and (v) Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.